RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jun 08, 2015, 4:32 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. COURT OF APPEALS NO. 72016-3-I

RECEIVED MAIL

91779-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Sandra Shelley Jackson, a single woman,

Petitioner,

v.

Quality Loan Service Corporation of Washington, a Washington Corporation; Mortgage Electronic Registration System, Inc.; McCarthy & Holthus, LLP, a Washington Limited Liability Partnership; U.S. Bank, National Association as Trustee for WAMU Mortgage Pass Through Certificate for WMALT 2006-AR4 Trust Investors in WMALT 2006-AR4 Trust c/o J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.,

Respondents.

III. ISSUES

1. Does attachment of documents not contained or referenced in the complaint act to convert a CR 12(b)(6) into a CR 56 motion?

2. May a trial court, in deciding a CR 12(b)(6) motion, take judicial notice of hearsay within publicly recorded documents that contradict the allegations in the Complaint without converting the motion to a CR 56 motion?

3. Is the Court of Appeals' misreading of the record causing confusion in superior court cases involving the Deeds of Trust Act, RCW 61.24 ("DTA")?

4. Does the DTA, divest Washington Superior Courts of original jurisdiction over cases involving the title or possession of real property in conflict with Const. art. IV § 6?

IV. NARRATIVE

This action stems from Respondents' attempts to foreclose on Ms. Jackson's home without complying with the Deeds of Trust Act. On March 17, 2006, Ms. Jackson executed a Note for \$715,00.00 in order to purchase property at 1533 33rd Avenue, Seattle, Washington, 98122. CP 29. Cameron Financial Group, Inc. DBA 1st Choice Mortgage ("Cameron") was the lender. CP 29.

On March 20, 2006, Ms. Jackson executed a document entitled "Deed of Trust." CP 38–53. It identifies Mortgage Electronic Registration System ("MERS") as the beneficiary and provides MERS acts "solely as nominee¹ for Lender and Lender's successors and assigns" and creates a power of sale. CP 40.

The Notice of Default states the "current owner of the Note secured by the deed of trust is: U.S. Bank, ... as trustee for WAMU Mortgage Pass Through Certificate for WMALT 2006-AR4 Trust" ("WAMU Trust"). CP 55. The Notice of Default identifies JP Morgan Chase Bank,

¹ "Nominee" means a "person designated to act in place of another, usu[ally] in a very limited way" or a "party who holds bare legal title for the benefit of others or who receives and distributes funds for the benefit of others." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1149 (Bryan Garner ed. 2009).

N.A. as the manager and servicer of the loan and recommends it as a contact for information. CP 56–58.

Quality Loan Service Corp. of Washington, ("Quality") recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale in King County, December 21, 2012. CP 60–64. The Notice names MERS as "Grantee" acting "as nominee for" Cameron. CP 60. Further, LaSalle Bank, N.A., ("LaSalle") is named as a predecessor trustee for the WAMU Trust where Bank of America, N.A., ("BANA") became trustee by merger with LaSalle; US Bank is named as a successor trustee of BANA without explanation. CP 60. The Notice of Trustee sale never mentions Countrywide nor Bank of America Home Loans nor JPMorgan Chase. CP 60–62.

Respondents sent Ms. Jackson a copy of a document entitled "Allonge." CP 36. This document bears no signature but identifies Countrywide Bank, N.A, ("Countrywide") as the payee. CP 36. Notwithstanding the defects in the Allonge, there is a gap in evidence of ownership of the Note. There is nothing showing how LaSalle came to be the beneficiary of the Deed of Trust or own Ms. Jackson's promissory note. Lastly, there is no record of a beneficiary declaration, as provided by RCW 61.24.030(7)(a).

V. PROCEDURAL POSTURE

In this section, Ms. Jackson will discuss the specific allegations her complaint made regarding the initiation of the nonjudicial foreclosure.

Next, Ms. Jackson will examine the documents not mentioned anywhere in the Complaint the trial court inappropriately took judicial notice of. Finally, Ms. Jackson will analyze the Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's erroneous ruling.

A. Ms. Jackson's Amended Complaint Specifically Alleged Trustee Defendants Had Violated Their Duty of Good Faith Owed to Her, and There Was Not a Proper Beneficiary of the Deed of Trust, or Owner of Her Note.

Ms. Jackson filed suit April 8, 2013. CP 1–26. Ms. Jackson amended her complaint once, CP 82–108, and added facts related to the duty of good faith of the trustee. *Compare* CP 4 ¶2.3 *with* CP 85 ¶ 2.3. Ms. Jackson specifically alleged Trustee Defendants had violated their statutory duty of good faith owed to her. CP 92 ¶ 4.2.5, 93 ¶ 5.2.

Additionally, Ms. Jackson pleaded facts that none of the parties

seeking to nonjudicially foreclose qualified as a beneficiary under the

DTA. CP 93 ¶ 5.3. Further, she argued that DTA violates the constitution

because it divests superior courts of original jurisdiction under Const. art.

IV, § 6. CP 82–108, ¶¶ 1.4, 1.7, 2.3, 2.13, 3.14, 6.7–6.11.

B. It Was Improper for the Trial Court to Consider Documents Not Mentioned in Complaint and Extrinsic Evidence When Ruling on a CR 12(b)(6) Motion

Respondents supported their CR 12(b)(6) motion with exhibits contained within a Request for Judicial Notice. CP 150–66. Exhibit A contains "full and correct copies" of Ms. Jackson's loan documents. CP 150, 155–61. Exhibit B contains a document recorded in King County, entitled "Corporate Assignment of Deed of Trust" wherein MERS, as nominee for Cameron and its successors, purported to assign a Deed of Trust to U.S. Bank as trustee for WAMU Trust. CP 162. JPMorgan Chase is the named "contact" and the return addressee. CP 162.

Exhibit C contains a document entitled "Appointment of Successor Trustee," wherein U.S. Bank as Trustee for the WAMU Trust purports to appoint Quality as successor trustee. CP 164–66. Respondents never admitted into evidence, through a declaration or request for judicial notice, a document contemplated by RCW 61.24.030(7), also known as a "beneficiary declaration." *See* CP 150–66 (judicial notice), 211–17 (dismissal orders).

The Superior Court dismissed Ms. Jackson's suit against all Respondents with prejudice as a result of their CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim. CP 220 (order re McCarthy Holthus), CP 224–26 (order re U.S. Bank, MERS, and Chase), CP 227 (order re Quality). Parties never engaged in any discovery proceedings and Ms. Jackson was barred from further amending her complaint. The trial court considered Respondents' "Request for Judicial Notice and Exhibits Thereto" in ruling on CR 12(b)(6). CP 211:25–26. Respondents had attached the Corporate Assignment document as well as the unexecuted Allonge. CP 160–62.

C. Appellate Decision

The Court of Appeals concluded the following: (1) that the trial court could consider documents in a judicial notice in ruling on a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss; (2) the legislature had authority to enact the DTA, which did not encroach on Superior Court jurisdiction, and (3) the trustee could rely on a declaration that the foreclosing entity was the holder of the note. Attach. at *1-11.

The Court of Appeals ruled that Ms. Jackson failed to give notice of her constitutional challenge to the attorney general, as provided under RCW 7.24.110. Even though the *Jackson* Court provided that it need not reach Ms. Jackson's constitutional challenges, it went on to perform constitutional analysis of the DTA. Attach. at *7–10. The Court of Appeals concluded Ms. Jackson waived her CPA causes of action; however, Ms. Jackson filed a supplemental brief, addressing new authority that Ms. Jackson's presale DTA causes of action are recoverable under the CPA, and to clarify that she sought relief for DTA violations under the CPA. Appellant Supp. Brief at *7 (Oct. 10, 2014) (citing *Frias v. Asset Foreclosure Servs., Inc.*, 181 Wn.2d 412, 334 P.3d 529 (2014) (only CPA damages for DTA violations presale)).

The Court of Appeals rested its decision, in part, on *Trujillo v.* Northwest Trustee Services, Inc., Attach. at *11, which this Court has accepted for review. 182 Wn.2d 1020, 345 P.3d 784 (2015). To the extent

a decision in *Trujillo* controls here, Ms. Jackson respectfully requests a ruling consistent with any pending decision.

VI. ANALYSIS FOR WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision for several reasons. First, there is now conflicting appellate precedent regarding what documents may be examined in deciding a CR 12(b)(6) motion. Second, judicial notice of hearsay contained within publicly recorded documents raises issues of substantial public concern. Third, the Court of Appeals' misreading of her complaint is creating confusion in superior court cases regarding the DTA. Finally, the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the DTA frustrates the original exclusive superior court jurisdiction over cases involving real property under Const. art. IV, § 6.

A. Division I's decision to consider evidence outside of Ms. Jackson's complaint in resolving a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss conflicts with other appellate precedent and rests on a case this Court accepted for review, *Trujillo*

The Court of Appeals circumvented the plain language of CR 12. CR 12(b)(7) provides that a CR 12(b)(6) motion "shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in rule 56," if "matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded." CR 12(b)(7); see also Sea-Pac Co., Inc. v. United Food & Commercial Workers Local Union 44, 103 Wn.2d 800, 802, 699 P.2d 217 (1985) (citing CR 12(b)).

A trial court's ruling to dismiss under CR 12(b)(6) is reviewed de novo.² "When an area of law involved is in the process of development, courts are reluctant to dismiss an action on the pleadings alone by way of a CR 12(b)(6) motion." *Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys.*, 109 Wn.2d 107, 120, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987).

The Court of Appeals here affirmed the trial court for considering a document entitled, "Corporate Assignment of Deed of Trust" in its ruling on Respondents' CR 12(b)(6) even though that document was not attached to nor mentioned in Ms. Jackson's complaint. *See* CP 28–63 (Compl. Exs.). Ms. Jackson attached an unexecuted allonge to highlight that document's flaws and a break in the chain of ownership of her mortgage, but the Court considered it in favor of Respondents. *Compare* CP 35–36 with CP 160, 211–12.

Although a party may submit documents outside of the pleading, those "submissions generally convert a CR 12(b)(6) motion into a motion for summary judgment." *Bavand v. Onewest Bank FSB*, 176 Wn. App. 475, 485, 309 P.3d 636 (Div. I, 2013) (citing *Hansen v. Friend*, 59 Wn. App. 236, 239, 797 P.2d 521 (Div. 1, 1990)). The Superior Court improperly considered documents attached to Respondents' request for judicial notice in granting their CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss; it should have converted

² Kinney v. Cook, 159 Wn.2d 837, 842, 154 P.3d 206 (2007) (citing Tenore v. AT & T Wireless Servs., 136 Wn.2d 322, 329–30, 962 P.2d 104 (1998)).

their motion to a CR 56 motion for summary judgment. This Court should grant review because of conflicting analysis between courts of appellate jurisdiction on this issue. RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2).

Currently, the Court of Appeals Divisions are in conflict on whether documents whose contents are referenced in a complaint may be considered in ruling on a CR 12(b)(6). *Compare Rodriguez v. Loudeye Corp.*, 144 Wn. App. 709, 725–26, 189 P.3d 168 (Div. I, 2008) with Brummett v. Washington's Lottery, 171 Wn. App. 664, 673, 288 P.3d 48 (Div. II, 2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1022 (2013). The Jackson Court rested its analysis on Rodriguez and its progenitors.

Division I in *Rodriguez*, held for the first time in Washington that the court may consider documents outside of the complaint in a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss; it acknowledged that no Washington Court ruled on this issue and rested upon Ninth Circuit federal court authority. *Rodriguez*, 144 Wn. App. at 726 n.44. Division II in *Brummett*, held that transcripts containing the content of documents referred to in the complaint converted the motion into a motion for summary judgment. *Brummett*, 171 Wn. App. at 672–73 n.13 (declining to follow *Rodriguez*). Even more recently, June 4, 2015, Division III of the Court of Appeals published *Merry v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.*, wherein it converted a CR 12(c) motion to a CR 56 motion because it included a trustee's deed not in the

complaint. ____ Wn. App. ____, ___ P.3d ____, No 32474-5-III, Slip. Op. at

*7-8 (Div. III, June 4, 2015).

Because of these conflicting decisions among Divisions of the Court of Appeals as well as this Court's precedent, this Court should grant review.

RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

B. Judicial notice of documents recorded with the County by private entities involves a substantial public concern because the Superior Court considered those documents for the truth of facts contained therein

Here, Ms. Jackson cannot dispute that Respondents recorded these documents with King County but she can and does dispute the veracity of assertions within those documents. To clarify, a trial court could judicially notice these documents were recorded to show Respondents adhered to recording requirements of the statute³ but that was not the basis of Ms. Jackson's claim. *See* CP 1–26. Typically, recording statutes exist to establish lien priority and to give notice to the public that a trustee intends to foreclose; they are common in other states. *See James v*.

ReconTrust Co., 845 F. Supp. 2d 1145, 1148 (D. Or. 2012) (suit based upon failure to publicly record document).

Affirming the trial court's analysis would invite anyone to write factual assertions in a document and record it with the county, and then rely on those facts without authenticating it or testifying as to its contents.

³ See, e.g., RCW 61.24.010(2), RCW 61.24.020, RCW 61.24.030(5).

Ruling under CR 12(b)(6) deprived Ms. Jackson of due process because she was not able to impeach Respondents' evidence or present evidence or her own. A CR 56 motion is the proper procedure to allow Ms. Jackson notice and opportunity to be heard. Here, Respondents never presented original loan documents. Regardless, there are defects on the face of these documents — the allonge lacks a signature — and there is a gap in evidence of ownership of Ms. Jackson's note even considering all of the documents presented. No document establishes how Lasalle came to own or possess anything, and Ms. Jackson specifically pleaded that there was no proper beneficiary of her Deed of Trust. Further, MERS cannot transfer interests it does not possess and its status as nominee lacks authority to act for others. Bain v. Metro. Mortgage Grp., Inc., 175 Wn.2d 83, 107, 111, 285 P.3d 34 (2012). Accordingly, this Court should grant review because the appellate court's analysis invites abuse of the civil rules of procedure, when one party relies on publicly recorded documents, the other party is unable to provide evidence impeaching those documents or refuting their veracity in arguing against a CR 12(b)(6) motion, which creates substantial issues of public concern under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

C. Division I's misreading of Ms. Jackson's allegations of bad faith is causing confusion in superior court cases involving the DTA, creating an issue of substantial public concern

The Court of Appeals incorrectly stated Ms. Jackson failed to plead that Respondents who acted as trustee, Quality and M&H, violated their duty of good faith. Attach. at *10–11.⁴ On the contrary, Ms. Jackson pleaded that Quality and M&H acted as trustee while owing the foreclosing party fiduciary duties as its attorney. CP 85 \P 2.3. She also pleaded that the trustee gave her documents with conflicting statements of who the purported beneficiary was. CP 94 \P 5.8. Accordingly, her claims against the trustee should have survived CR 12(b)(6). *Frias*, 181 Wn.2d at 428–30.

Ms. Jackson's complaint contains the following allegations: Quality is completely controlled by M&H; Quality is M&H's *alter ego*, CP 85 ¶ 2.3; CP 93 ¶¶ 5.2–5.13; M&H is the attorney for foreclosing entities and owes them fiduciary duties, CP 84 ¶ 2.3; CP 93 ¶ 5.2. Otherwise, M&H acts as trustee and any action carried out by Quality is merely a legal fiction and a misleading use of the corporate form. CP 85 ¶ 2.3. M&H's employees are also Quality's employees, and the same persons who give legal advice to M&H's clients either perform the acts for Quality as trustee or direct others to carry out those acts. CP 85 ¶ 2.3. This is even shown by a document attached to Respondents' request for judicial notice — after recording, the Appointment of Successor Trustee document was to be returned to M&H, not Quality! CP 165–66. Furthermore, Ms. Jackson pleaded M&H and Quality had insufficient proof the foreclosing entity

⁴ The Court of Appeals also noted "the beneficiary declaration is sufficient," but there is no beneficiary declaration in the record.

was a lawful beneficiary under the DTA. CP 94 ¶ 5.10. Accordingly, dismissing M&H and Quality pursuant to CR 12(b)(6) was inappropriate.

Ms. Jackson pleaded facts that none of the Respondents were entitled to be a beneficiary under the DTA, and pleaded in the alternative that if US Bank possessed the note as trustee for WAMU trust it could not foreclose because the investors *held* the note. CP 85–86 \P 2.6. The Court of Appeals unfairly bound Ms. Jackson to one of her competing legal theories. Attach. at *10–11.

When another court reads Ms. Jackson's complaint and reads the Court of Appeals' opinion, it could conclude that alleging trustee bias and breach of its duty of good faith is irrelevant. These create substantial issues of public concern under RAP 13.4(b)(4) and this Court should accept review.

D. Review should be granted because the DTA frustrates Original Exclusive Superior Court Jurisdiction under Const. art. IV § 6 by vesting original jurisdiction in a Trustee instead of Superior Courts.

The DTA, in attempting to make the process efficient and inexpensive, raises serious constitutional jurisdiction concerns by taking away original jurisdiction over disputes relating to real property arising out of nonjudicial foreclosures from the Superior Courts and vesting them to DTA trustees.⁵ Because the trustee must engage in fact finding and act like a judge while wielding equitable powers, it effectively has original jurisdiction. Accordingly, Superior Courts become akin to courts of limited or appellate jurisdiction in reviewing these foreclosures.

1. Completely without judicial oversight, an entity may sell another person's home under authority from the DTA while acting as a judicial substitute

The DTA allows for a private entity to sell the home of another when third party claims the homeowner is in default. RCW 61.24.030; RCW 61.24.050. Through the DTA, lenders can forfeit borrowers' interests with relative ease without taking into account equitable considerations because of the lack of judicial oversight in conducting nonjudicial foreclosure sales.⁶

Under the DTA, the trustee "undertakes the role of a judge." *Klem v. Washington Mutual Bank*, 176 Wn.2d 771, 790, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013). The trustee must conduct, at a minimum, a "cursory investigation" to identify a "beneficiary" within the meaning of RCW 61.24.005(2).⁷ Accordingly, the trustee must have proof the "beneficiary" of the deed of trust owns the note before initiating nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings. *Id.* at 789

⁵ Approximately half of all states only allow for judicial foreclosure. Larson, Stephen D., *The Prohibition Against Recovering Attorney Fees in Mortgage Foreclosure*, 87 N.D. L. Rev. 255, 264 n.91 (2011).

⁶ Klem v. Washington Mut. Bank, 176 Wn.2d 771, 789, 295 P.3d 1179, 1188 (2013) (quoting Udall v. T.D. Escrow Services, Inc., 159 Wn.2d 903, 915-16, 154 P.3d 882 (2007))).

⁷ Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat. Ass'n, 181 Wn.2d 775, 787, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014).

(citing RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)). The trustee's mandatory procedures amount to judicial inquiries and result in adjudicatory determinations.

The DTA alters the parties' burdens of proof, frustrating the jurisdiction of superior court. Under RCW 61.12, a lender bears the burden of proving the borrower's breach of contract. 6A Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. WPI 300.02 (6th ed.) (burden of proof on contract action). In challenging a DTA foreclosure, the homeowner must prove that the foreclosing party's own statements are untrue. *See* RCW 61.24.130. Further, by placing the impetus for suit on the homeowner, she must bear the burden of initiating suit and is disadvantaged by having to survive pretrial dispositive motions. The shift in burden acts to frustrate the jurisdiction of the superior court's contrary to Const. art. IV, § 6.

Although a trustee is not an administrative agency, it is statutorily created and it performs adjudicative functions. *See Ledgering v. State*, 63 Wn.2d 94, 103–04, 385 P.2d 522 (1963). Here, the trustee performs judicial functions because a superior court could undertake its fact-finding role and could conduct a sale of the home. *Id.* at 103–04. Furthermore, foreclosure has also historically been vested with the courts. *See id.* at 104–05. The Court of Appeals never conducted this analysis and this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The court in *Tacoma v. O'brien* considered legislation that relieved contractors from liability under certain circumstances and provides when

those circumstances are met.⁸ The court held that the legislature had undertaken a judicial role and struck down that portion as a violation of the separation of powers doctrine. *Id.* at 272. Here, the legislature has provided the trustee with what amounts to proof of ownership of a note; a beneficiary declaration. RCW 61.24.030(7). The DTA contains an overstep similar to that in *Tacoma v. O'brien*, and this court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

2. Washington's constitution grants exclusive jurisdiction to superior courts to conduct foreclosures at they concern rights of title and possession of real property

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