RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jul 08, 2015, 3:04 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 91779-5



(Court of Appeals No. 72016-3-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SANDRA SHELLEY JACKSON,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

v.

QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORP. OF WASHINGTON, et al.,

Respondents/Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Davis Wright Tremaine LLP Attorneys for JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., and U.S. Bank National Association Fred Burnside, WSBA No. 32491 Zana Bugaighis, WSBA No. 43614

1201 Third Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, Washington 98101-3045 206-622-3150 (phone) 206-757-7700 (fax)

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

The Court should not accept review under RAP 13.4(b). The issues here are narrow, discrete, and specific to the facts of this particular matter and covered by established case law. Jackson's remaining claims on appeal are that the Superior Court should have converted motions to dismiss into motions for summary judgment (hardly a question that merits this Court's review) and that the DTA is unconstitutional (which Jackson cannot argue because she did notify the Washington Attorney General).

- A. This Court Does Not Need to Review the Court of Appeals' Treatment of Public Records and Documents Relied On In Complaints Because There is No Controversy About Their Use.
 - 1. There is No Conflict Between the Court of Appeals Decision in This Case and Other Appellate Decisions.

The Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the Superior Court's consideration of documents attached to and referenced in Jackson's complaint, as well as documents subject to judicial notice, without converting the motion to dismiss into one for summary judgment. Pet. at 7-10. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with prior appellate decisions because there is no dispute "whether documents whose contents are referenced in a complaint may be considered" on a CR 12(b)(6) motion. Pet. at 9 (citing *Rodriguez v. Loudeye Corp.*, 144 Wn. App. 709, 726 (2008); *Brummett v. Washington's Lottery*, 171 Wn. App. 664, 673 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1022 (2013); *Merry v. Nw. Tr. Servs.*, *Inc.*, No. 32474-5-III, 2015 WL 3532992, at *13 n.3 (2015).

The Court of Appeals affirmed the Superior Court's determination that consideration of public records and documents referenced in Jackson's complaint need not convert CR 12(b)(6) motions to CR 56.

Jackson v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp., 347 P.3d 487, 491 (Wash. Ct. App. 2015). Citing Rodriguez v. Loudeye Corp., 144 Wn. App. 709, 726 (2008), the Court of Appeals found the Superior Court properly considered an "adjustable rate note, prepayment penalty addendum, and an allonge to the note for the loan, which were repeatedly referenced in [Jackson's] complaint." Jackson, 347 P.3d at 491. And citing Berge v. Gorton, 88 Wn.2d 756, 763 (1977), and ER 201(b)(2), the Court of Appeals also held that the Superior Court properly considered "a recorded corporate assignment of the deed of trust and a recorded appointment of successor trustee" because a court "may take judicial notice of public documents if the authenticity of those documents cannot be reasonably disputed."

Jackson, 347 P.3d at 491.

Rodriguez and Merry held that documents whose contents are alleged in a complaint, and whose authenticity no party questions, may be considered in ruling on a motion to dismiss, even if those documents were not filed with the complaint. Rodriguez, 144 Wn. App. at 726; Merry, 2015 WL 3532992, at *13 n.3. Brummett is consistent with Rodriguez and Merry. Brummett, 171 Wn. App. at 673 n.13. Based on the procedural posture of that particular case, and in order to preserve judicial resources,

the court in *Brummett* decided to convert the motion because it would not affect the outcome of the appeal. *Brummett*, 171 Wn. App. at 673 n.13.

Jackson insinuates that the Court of Appeals' decision rested on *Trujillo v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.*, 181 Wn. App. 484 (2014), *as modified* (Nov. 3, 2014), *review granted*, 182 Wn.2d 1020 (2015), which "this Court accepted for review." Pet. at 7. But the Court of Appeals did not rely on *Trujillo* in affirming the Superior Court's consideration of documents outside the complaint. *See Jackson*, 347 P.3d at 491. And this Court did not accept *Trujillo* for review based on the Superior Court's review of documents referred to in the complaint. *Trujillo v. Nw. Tr. Servs., Inc.*, 182 Wn.2d 1020 (2015).

2. Jackson's Argument That the Superior Court Improperly Relied on "Hearsay" Was Not Raised on Appeal And is Waived.

Jackson argues that the Superior Court improperly considered publicly recorded documents for "the truth of facts contained therein."

Pet. at 10. But Jackson failed to raise this argument either in the Superior Court below or in her opening brief to the Court of Appeals.

The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error that was not raised in the trial court, with limited exceptions not applicable here. RAP 2.5(a). An appellate court will not consider new issues not raised to the trial court or in a party's initial brief to the Court of Appeals. *State v. Shale*, 182 Wn.2d 882, 886, 345 P.3d 776, 777 n.2 (2015).

Jackson has waived this ground to appeal and the Court should deny review on this basis. Additionally, Jackson's allegations fail as a matter of law. Jackson does not (and cannot) identify how the Superior Court relied on any alleged hearsay. Pet. at 11.

B. Jackson Cannot Assert on Appeal the Trustee Acted in Bad Faith Because She Has No Claims Under the DTA and Waived Her Right to Appeal Her CPA Claims.

Jackson asks this Court to declare the Court of Appeals "misread" her complaint and wrongly dismissed her "bad faith" allegations against Quality and McCarthy. *See* Pet. at 11-13. But the Court of Appeals properly found that Jackson had "failed to address her claims for violation of the CPA, breach of contract, unconscionability, negligence, and quiet title in her opening appellate brief" and thus her "failure to assign error to and argue against the [trial] court's decision for failure to state a claim on these issues, waive[d] any argument as to those claims." *Jackson*, 347 P.3d at 491 (citing RAP 10.3(a)(6)). And citing *Frias v. Asset Foreclosure Services.*, *Inc.*, 181 Wn.2d 412, 428-30 (2014), the Court of Appeals also held that because there had been no foreclosure, Jackson had no claims under the DTA. *Id.* at 493. Thus, Jackson failed to preserve a cause of action for appeal under which she could even assert bad faith against Quality and McCarthy. *Id.* Jackson does not seek review of the Court of Appeals' findings that she waived these claims. *See* Pet. at 1-2.

C. Jackson's Constitutional Challenge Fails Procedurally and Lacks Merit.

Jackson improperly seeks a determination as to the constitutionality of the DTA. *See* Pet. at 13-19. Jackson did not send the required notice to the Washington Attorney General, which was a required procedural hurdle. Many courts have rejected Jackson's constitutional challenge (raised by the same counsel). *See Knecht v. Fid. Nat. Title Ins. Co.*, 2014 WL 4057148, *11 (W.D. Wash. 2014) (plaintiff asking "the court to rewrite [DTA], not to interpret it"); *Galyean v. Nw. Tr. Servs. Inc.*, 2014 WL 3360241, *6 (W.D. Wash. 2014) (same); *Robertson v. GMAC Mortg. LLC*, 2014 WL 2207505, *3 (W.D. Wash. 2014) (same).

1. Jackson's DTA Claim Fails Procedurally.

The Court of Appeals properly held that Jackson's attack on the constitutionality of the DTA is procedurally deficient because she failed to notify the Attorney General of her constitutional challenge. *Jackson*, 347 P.3d 487 (citing RCW 7.24.110, requiring notification to the state attorney general when there is a constitutional challenge to state legislation); *Camp Fin., LLC v. Brazington*, 133 Wn. App. 156, 160 (2006) (Attorney General must be served when a party challenges the constitutionality of a statute).

2. The DTA Does Not Violate the Washington State Constitution.

The Court of Appeals properly found that "[t]he legislature had authority to enact the DTA and its enactment did not encroach upon the jurisdiction of the superior court." *Jackson*, 347 P.3d at 493. Jackson mistakenly argues that a nonjudicial foreclosure is "judicial" in nature, and

that as a result, the DTA usurps jurisdiction from the courts over cases involving title or possession of real property. But the nonjudicial foreclosure process is (as the name suggests) not judicial at all, and the DTA expressly preserves the Superior Court's jurisdiction to resolve disputes stemming from nonjudicial foreclosures (as it did here).

a. Nonjudicial Foreclosure is Not Judicial.

Jackson's argument hinges on her theory that the nonjudicial foreclosure process involves a "judicial inquiry," *i.e.*, an inquiry she believes the constitution reserves to the courts. For support, Jackson cites *Klem v. Washington Mutual Bank*, 176 Wn.2d 771 (2013), claiming that case holds that a trustee under a deed of trust "acts as a judge" and engages in "judicial inquiries." Pet. at 14-16. Jackson misreads *Klem* and misunderstands the DTA.

In *Klem*, the Court addressed the duties of a trustee and drew an analogy between judicial and nonjudicial foreclosures, but it did not use dicta to convert a nonjudicial process into a judicial one. *Klem*, 176 Wn.2d at 789-90. In judicial foreclosures, an "impartial judge," rather than a trustee, directs a sale by court order. Because a nonjudicial foreclosure does not involve a judge, the trustee should likewise "act as an impartial third party who owes a duty to both parties to ensure that the rights of both the beneficiary and the debtor are protected." *Id*.

The point was not that the DTA makes trustees into judges, but rather that trustees should act impartially, just as a judge would. Rejecting

a similar challenge to the one Jackson raises here, this Court recognized that "[a] nonjudicial trustee sale is not made pursuant to a judgment," but instead is entirely voluntary, and thus there is no state action by the courts or otherwise. Felton v. Citizens Fed. S&L of Seattle, 101 Wn.2d 416, 423 (1984); Kennebec, Inc. v. Bank of the W., 88 Wn.2d 718, 725 (1977).

Jackson next argues the legislature's decision to allow a trustee to rely on a sworn statement from the beneficiary involves a "judicial inquiry." Pet. 15-16 (citing RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)-(b)). But as this Court recognized in Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Group Inc., 177 Wn.2d 94 (2013), RCW 61.24.030 "is not a rights-or-privileges-creating statute," but "[i]nstead, it sets up a list of "requisite[s] to a trustee's sale." Id. at 106-07. The Court examined the requirements under RCW 61.24.030 and held they were "not, properly speaking, rights held by the debtor; instead, they are limits on the trustee's power to foreclose without judicial supervision." Id. at 107. This requirement is no more judicial than requiring that the lender identify the deed of trust or issue a notice of default. The trustee is not adjudicating anything; it is merely ensuring compliance with the list of statutory prerequisites to a sale. Countless statutes contain notarization, certification, or other similar requirements as a condition of taking further action; Jackson's argument would mean that hundreds of statutes are unconstitutional.²

² See, e.g., RCW 11.42.010 (a declaration and oath in affidavit form or under penalty of perjury is required for identification of a nonprobate notice agent to creditors); RCW 16.52.220 (written certifications must be signed under penalty of perjury for the transfer of certain mammals to research institutions); RCW 18.104.093 (application for a

b. The DTA Does Not Divest the Court of Jurisdiction.

Jackson asks this Court to find that the Washington legislature has no ability to legislate regarding the title and possession of real estate. Pet. at 14-19. Jackson bases her argument on Const. art. IV, § 6, and Const. art. II, § 1's alleged "exclusive" grant of jurisdiction to the courts for all real property concerns. *See* Pet. at 16. The "Superior Court shall have original jurisdiction in all cases at law which [sic] involve the title or possession of real property" Wash. State Constitution, Art. 4, § 6. But a nonjudicial foreclosure is not "a case at law," it is the enforcement of an entirely voluntary agreement between parties. The DTA "is entirely noncoercive." *Kennebec*, 88 Wn.2d at 725. Over 30 years ago, this Court emphasized the voluntary nature of nonjudicial foreclosure. *Felton*, 101 Wn.2d at 421-22.

Until, for instance, a party challenges the foreclosure, there is no "case at law" to bring to Superior Court. Indeed, the DTA specifically preserves the Superior Court's constitutional grant of jurisdiction: "Nothing contained in this chapter shall prejudice the right of the borrower" to file an action in Superior Court "to restrain, on any proper

water well construction operator's training license requires a statement by a licensed operator signed under penalty of perjury verifying the applicant has the required field experience and assuming liability for all of the applicant's well construction activities); RCW 19.225.040 (athlete agent disclosure form must be signed under penalty of perjury); RCW 25.05.025 (partnership statement filed with the office of secretary of state must be signed under penalty of perjury); RCW 29A.08.510 (county auditor or Secretary of State may rely on a registered voter's signed statement "subject to the penalties of perjury" that another registered voter is deceased in canceling the deceased voter's registration from the official state voter registration list).

legal or equitable ground, a trustee's sale." RCW 61.24.130(2).³ The DTA also provides that if a lender fails to acknowledge satisfaction of the mortgage by reconveyance 60 days from the date of the borrower's request, the lender is liable for damages and attorneys' fees in a court action. RCW 61.16.030; RCW 61.24.110. And even after the sale has occurred, Jackson has access to the Courts to seek damages associated with the foreclosure (and in some cases may unwind the sale). *See* RCW 61.24.127; *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Serv. of Wash.*, 174 Wn.2d 560, 568 (2012) (voiding sale in court action). This is precisely the access to Superior Court that Jackson denies exists. Yet this lawsuit is the very exercise of that right.⁴

The DTA clearly embraces the use of the courts should there actually be a "case at law" disputing the propriety of foreclosure.⁵ As

-

³ See also RCW 61.24.030(8)(j) ("the borrower ... has recourse to the courts pursuant to RCW 61.24.130 to contest the alleged default on any proper ground"); RCW 61.24.040(2) ("You may contest this default by initiating court action in the Superior Court of the county in which the sale is to be held") (emphasis added); RCW 61.24.090(2) ("Any person entitled to cause a discontinuance of the sale proceedings shall have the right to request any court, excluding a small claims court, for disputes within the jurisdictional limits of that court, to determine the reasonableness of any fees demanded or paid as a condition to reinstatement") (emphasis added); RCW 61.24.130(1) ("Nothing contained in this chapter shall prejudice the right of the borrower ... to restrain, on any proper legal or equitable ground, a trustee's sale" in superior court) (emphasis added).

⁴ Likewise, Jackson's Deed of Trust expressly preserves her right to access the Courts to resolve any disputes over the propriety of foreclosure, requiring that any default notice explain Jackson has "the right to bring a Court action to assert the non-existence of a default or any other defense of [Jackson] to acceleration and sale." CP 50, ¶ 22.

⁵ The DTA does not purport to resolve any disputes as to "possession" of property, as it makes clear that any effort to enforce any possessory right must be done through the courts under RCW 59.12 et seq. See RCW 61.24.040(9) ("After the 20th day following the sale the purchaser has the right to evict occupants who are not tenants by summary proceedings under chapter 59.12 RCW.").

such, Jackson's argument the DTA somehow usurps the court's position contradicts the words of the statute and Washington case law. The fact the Superior Court has original jurisdiction to resolve disputes over title and possession of real property issues also does not mean the legislature cannot enact laws that regulate real property title transactions.

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